No. 23-CV-0522

In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals



Clerk of the Court Received 11/02/2023 01:32 PM Resubmitted 11/02/2023 04:15 PM Filed 11/02/2023 04:15 PM

MARY-KATE CASTANIA,

Appellant,

v.

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division No. 2020 CA 003026B (Hon. Hiram Puig-Lugo, Judge)

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

ADAM R. LEIGHTON (DC Bar No. 460184) WAYNE R. COHEN (DC Bar No. 433629) COHEN, STANLEY, LEIGHTON & RODNEY d/b/a COHEN AND COHEN 1730 Rhode Island Avenue, NW No. 410 Washington, DC 20036 (202) 955-4529 arl@cohenandcohen.net wrc@cohenandcohen.net

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 16-4427(b) on the basis that Ms. Castania appeals an order issued by the Superior Court that granted a motion for summary judgment which disposed of all of her claims.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment where there were material issues of fact given lay witness and expert witness testimony.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in ruling as a matter of law that a sidewalk defect of 0.8 to 1.5 inches was insignificant, even though the defect existed in a highly trafficked commercial area.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a premises liability action brought by Appellant, Mary-Kate Castania, against the District of Columbia that was pending in the Superior Court. On July 25, 2019, Ms. Castania was riding an electric scooter on the sidewalk near 1523-1525 9th Street, NW in Washington, D.C. She encountered a portion of the sidewalk that was raised, causing her to fall and suffer severe injuries. Ms. Castania filed her Complaint on July 08, 2020, (JA 12-16) and upon the completion of discovery, the District of Columbia filed its dispositive motion for summary judgment. By Order dated February 23, 2023, the trial court granted the District of Columbia's Motion for Summary Judgment, ruling that as a matter of law 1) Ms. Castania failed to proffer sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to conclude that the District of Columbia had sufficient notice of a dangerous condition; and 2) the defect at issue was "insignificant" as a matter of law. JA 355-362. A timely appeal of the trial court's order was thereafter filed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Ms. Castania was riding her electric scooter and was severely injured when her scooter struck a defect on a sidewalk in front of 1523-1525 9th Street, NW which the District of Columbia admitted it owned, maintained and inspected. ("the incident") JA 300-310, 317. At the time of the incident, and for at least two years prior, there was a portion of that sidewalk that was raised and constituted a dangerous condition for persons lawfully on the sidewalk, including Ms. Castania. Specifically, a raised portion of the sidewalk in front of 1523-1525 9th Street, NW, in Washington, D.C., had a sudden change in elevation between 0.8 and 1.5 inches in height. JA 327-328, 329-330. This elevation change caused Ms. Castania to be thrown from her scooter and sustain serious and permanent injuries including but not limited to an elbow fracture, wrist fracture and leg fractures which required multiple surgeries. J.A. 98-117.

During motions practice Ms. Castania presented the following to the trial court:

- Expert report with measurements of the raised sidewalk defect where Ms.
 Castania fell, identifying the elevation change from 0.8 inches to 1.5 inches.
 J.A. 329-330.
- 2. An Affidavit of Claire Wilder who works at, and whose husband owns, Chaplin's Restaurant located on the same block and in close proximity to the incident. JA 297-298. Ms. Wilder was an eyewitness to Ms. Castania's fall and observed the raised sidewalk defect. JA 297-298, 332-333. Ms. Wilder has personal knowledge that the raised sidewalk defect at issue existed for approximately two years prior to the incident. Id.
- 3. An Affidavit of Kyle Sappington, the owner of Glass House Gallery, D.C., located in the District of Columbia on the same block and next to where the incident occurred. JA 299. Mr. Sappington has personal knowledge that the raised sidewalk defect at issue existed since approximately 2017. JA 299, 332-333.

Notwithstanding the above, the trial court failed to view the evidence before it in the light most favorable to Ms. Castania, and granted summary judgment. The trial court ruled that there "is no genuine issue of material fact that Defendant had no constructive notice of an alleged defect that would need to be repaired." JA 360-361. For the reasons set forth herein, the trial court committed reversible error.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

For the issues before this Court, the standard of review is *de novo* as the question of whether summary judgment was properly granted is one of law and is reviewed *de novo*. *Cormier v. The District of Columbia Water & Sewer Auth.*, 959 A.2d 658, 662 (D.C. 2008). This Court reviews the trial court's granting of summary judgment *de novo*. *Reeves v. Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority*, 135 A.3d 80 (D.C. 2016).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant submits that the trial court committed two errors in granting the motion for summary judgment. First, the trial court erred by ruling that Ms. Castania failed to present sufficient evidence upon which a reasonable jury could find that the District of Columbia had constructive notice of the raised sidewalk at issue. Ms. Castania presented affidavits of two fact witnesses, as well as expert testimony, to support her claim that the raised sidewalk defect at issue existed for several years before the incident. Second, the trial court erroneously ruled that a sidewalk defect of between 0.8 inches and 1.5 inches was insignificant as a matter of law, even where the defect existed in a highly trafficked commercial area of Washington, D.C. containing a large church, WMATA bus stop, restaurants, and gallery. In reaching its conclusion the trial court relied on one case alone, and that case is factually dissimilar from the case before this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred When It Ruled that Ms. Castania Failed To Present Sufficient Evidence Upon Which a Reasonable Jury Could Find the District of Columbia Negligent.

A. Material Factual Issues Exist on the Issue of Constructive Notice

It has long been settled that the District of Columbia has a duty to maintain its sidewalks in a reasonably safe condition. *The District of Columbia v. Woodbury*, 136 U.S. 450, 463-65 (1890); *Rajabi v. Potomac Elec. Power Co.*, 650 A.2d 1319, 1322 (D.C. 1994); *Lynn v. The District of Columbia*, 734 A.2d 168, 171-72 (D.C. 1999); *see also* STANDARDIZED CIVIL JURY INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA § 10.10 The District of Columbia's Liability for Unsafe Conditions in Public Space. JA 311.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Ms. Castania, there remains a triable issue of fact as to whether the District of Columbia had constructive notice of the raised sidewalk defect that caused Ms. Castania's fall. In order to establish a constructive notice claim against the District of Columbia, a plaintiff must show that (1) a dangerous condition existed, and (2) that it existed for such a period of time that the District of Columbia should be aware of it. *Lynn v. The District of Columbia.*, 734 A.2d 168 (D.C. 1999). When considering the particular circumstances of constructive notice, how long a dangerous condition existed for is a critical factor. *See Wilson v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth.*, 912 A.2d 1186, 1190 (D.C. 2006)(citing *Lynn*, 734 A.2d at 170.). If the alleged hazard persisted for an unreasonably prolonged period of time, then constructive notice may be imputed to the defendant. *See Lynn*, 734 at 171. When considering how long is too long, this Court has found that a raised portion of a sidewalk existing for just "more than a month" can be unreasonably prolonged. *Id.* Additionally, "since questions of this kind are necessarily fact-specific, a trial judge must carefully assess, in considering a motion for summary judgment . . . whether material questions of fact exist." *Id.* at 170.

Here, as set forth below, Ms. Castania presented to the trial court the testimony of two fact witnesses who observed the sidewalk defect at issue and had knowledge of how long the sidewalk defect existed prior to the incident. The District of Columbia chose not to depose these witnesses during discovery, and their affidavit testimony was presented to the trial court.

B. The Testimony of Claire Wilder & Kyle Sappington Create Material Issues of Fact.

One witness to the incident was Claire Wilder. Ms. Wilder observed the fall itself, as well as the sidewalk defect. JA 297-298, 332-333. Ms. Wilder's works at, and her husband owns, Chaplin's Restaurant, located in Washington, D.C. *Id.* Chaplin's restaurant is located on the very same block as the sidewalk where the incident occurred. Ms. Wilder was an eyewitness to the fall and had an opportunity

to observe the sidewalk defect. Id. Specifically, Ms. Wilder testified by affidavit that the "raised sidewalk in front of" the location where the incident occurred had been present "for approximately two years prior" to the fall. *Id*.

As the District of Columbia chose not to depose Mr. Wilder, no evidence or argument was presented to the trial court in any way discounting, discrediting, or otherwise contradicting the testimony that the raised sidewalk at issue had been present for at least 2 years prior to Ms. Castania's fall.

Ms. Castania also offered testimony of a second witness who observed the sidewalk defect. Kyle Sappington owns a business located at 1527 9th Street, NW which is on the same block and next to where the incident occurred. JA 299, 332-333. As with Claire Wilder, Mr. Sappington had an opportunity to observe the sidewalk; his observations were dated back to 2017. *Id.* Mr. Sappington testified via affidavit "that the raised sidewalk" existed since 2017. *Id.*

As with Ms. Wilder, the District of Columbia chose not to depose Mr. Sappington. The District of Columbia offered no evidence or argument to the trial court in any way discounting, discrediting, or otherwise contradicting the testimony that the raised sidewalk at issue existed since 2017.

C. The Sidewalk Defect Was Measured by Expert Witness as Between 0.8 and 1.5 Inches.

Dr. William Vigilante, one of Appellant's liability experts, measured the portion of the sidewalk where the incident occurred and reported a change in elevation of between 0.8 and 1.5 inches. JA 329-330. The District of Columbia did not contest or otherwise argue the invalidity of these measurements, thus conceding their accuracy. JA 327-328. This is well in excess of the 0.25 inches that the District of Columbia considers acceptable by its own internal policies and procedures. This is also well in excess of the 0.5 inch standard that the District of Columbia admits as the threshold at which a sidewalk needs to be repaired. In its responses to Mr. Castania's request for admission of facts, the District of Columbia concedes that it would repair sidewalk defects of 0.5 inches or greater. JA 300-303.

D. The Trial Court Confused Actual and Constructive Notice.

It bears mentioning that the trial court wrongly confused the doctrines of constructive and actual notice. The trial court in granting the motion for summary judgment reasoned that "[i]ndeed, neither witness testified having reported the condition of the sidewalk to the District in an effort to secure repairs." JA 360. This analysis by the trial court is confusing, and appears to conflate actual notice with constructive notice. It is unknown whether this confusion by the trial court ultimately impacted its ruling, but at no point in the record did Ms. Castainia suggest that her negligence claim rested in actual notice. Although it had an

opportunity to correct it analysis in its order denying Mr. Castania's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, the trial court chose not to do so and seemingly continued to conflate the doctrines of actual and constructive notice. JA 382-386.

II. The Trial Court Erred in Ruling that the Sidewalk Defect Was Insignificant as a Matter of Law

The trial court wrongly ruled that that the sidewalk defect was "insignificant" as a matter of law, and therefore granted the summary judgment motion. In reaching its conclusion, the trial court relied on one, single case: *Briscoe v. The District of Columbia*, 62 A.3d 1275 (D.C. 2013). As discussed herein, the defect at issue is not "insignificant," and the facts of Briscoe materially differ from the facts before this Court.

A. Briscoe Is Distinguishable

In *Briscoe*, the plaintiff was attempting to cross a curb which was located directly in front of her home. She fell and suffered injuries. The trial court there determined that the photograph of the curbstone confirmed that the defect was "very small" and was no more than "an indentation along the upper edge of the curb." *Briscoe*, 62 A.3d at 1277, 1279. In reaching its conclusion that summary judgment was appropriate, the *Briscoe* court relied upon precedent involving a one-half inch gap between a median strip and a curb, and another involving a brick protruding one-quarter of an inch above the sidewalk. *Briscoe*, citing *Williams v*.

The District of Columbia, 646 A.2d 962, 962-963 (D.C. 1992)(finding summary judgment appropriate when the plaintiff "lacked **any evidence** that the condition of the street or the median strip was defective). *Briscoe*, 62 A.3d at 1278 (emphasis added). This Court in *Briscoe* ultimately concluded that a *de minimis* defect should remove the matter from the jury as a matter of law.

The facts of the instant case are distinguishable from *Briscoe*. First and foremost, the defect in *Briscoe* was on a curb. This Court did not face in *Briscoe*, nor did it decide, that raised sidewalk panels of 0.8 inches to 1.5 inches are insignificant. This Court rendered its decision based on what is arguable a very narrow set of facts, particularly that in Briscoe the defect was a small indentation along a curb adjacent to a parking lane of a roadway directly outside of the plaintiff's home. In the matter before the Court now, the raised sidewalk defect that caused Ms. Castania's fall was 1.5 inches at its peak, and was squarely in the middle of the highly trafficked sidewalk. JA 307-310, 337.

B. The Fall Occurred in a Heavily Trafficked Area Within the District of Columbia.

It is important to note that it is long been settled that the nature of the hazard's surrounding area is a fact upon which a plaintiff can rely to defiant a summary judgment motion. *See Lynn v. The District of Columbia*, 734 A.2d 168 (D.C. 1999). Specifically, the nature of the hazard's surrounding area and the amount of traffic it receives are important factors when considering whether the

particular circumstances of a case may establish constructive notice. *Id.* at 171. Therefore, routine pedestrian traffic and the presence of significant commercial activity near the location of the hazardous sidewalk strongly favors a finding of constructive notice. *See id.* (noting the proximity to a shopping mall near the dangerous condition as a factor in finding that a genuine issue of material fact was raised regarding constructive notice); *Smith v. District of Columbia*, 189 F.2d at 671, 676 (D.C. Cir. 1951) (observing that the plaintiff slipped on ice in a "much-traveled corner in downtown Washington" while determining that the plaintiff raised a genuine issue of fact regarding constructive notice).

Here, summary judgment was not appropriate because (1) the raised sidewalk defect that is at issue was present for at least two years before Ms. Castania's fall, and (2) the raised sidewalk defect was present in a location that receives a high volume of pedestrian traffic. *Lynn*, 734 A.2d at 171. The fall at issue occurred on 9th Street NW between P Street NW and Q Street NW. This is a well-traveled area of the city. In fact, the District of Columbia, through its Rule 30(b)(6) designee Andrew Kaufman, testified that the location is a "major road," a "federal aid road," "a road eligible for federal aid," a road that "the federal government has deemed it an important, major, bigger road," that the federal government would even help in the cost of maintaining the road and sidewalk," and that the sidewalk is part of the "major road." JA 320-321.

What's more, as pointed out to the trial court, the dangerous condition was on the same block as several commercial establishments that garner heavy pedestrian, bicycle, and scooter traffic such as a daycare center, two restaurants and an art studio/gallery. JA 293. A large Baptist church resides on the opposite side of the street on the same block as the incident, as does the Gregory Life Family Center non-profit, and an additional restaurant. JA 293. (see google maps photo)¹ The dangerous condition on the sidewalk existed along the route of two WMATA public bus routes — the G8 bus which has two stops within 1.5 blocks of the sidewalk and the G2 whose westbound bus stop is on the corner south of the defect with an eastbound stop across the street. The defect was in the middle of the sidewalk, not an obscure area that a person would not be expected to travel. JA 336-337. It is also worth mentioning that witness Claire Wilder had seen individuals trip and fall over the raised sidewalk at issue prior to Ms. Castania's fall. JA 297-298.

C. The District of Columbia Concedes that Any Change in Elevation Greater than .25 Inches Needs Repair.

The trial court, in ruling that the defect before it of between 0.8 and 1.5 inches was "insignificant" as a matter of law, seemingly ignored not only the law in the

¹ <u>https://www.google.com/maps/@38.9103194,-</u>

<u>77.0239909,3a,75y,156.58h,88.13t/data=!3m7!1e1!3m5!1s3oiUvkNIZYdbNARG9</u> E8x4Q!2e0!5s20190701T000000!7i16384!8i8192?entry=ttu

District of Columbia, but also the District of Columbia's own admissions.

Indeed, a change in elevation as small as 0.125 inches has been sufficient to constitute a dangerous condition, although it is generally accepted that a change in elevation up to 0.25 inches is acceptable and anything beyond that is a dangerous condition. Compare *District of Columbia v. Cooper*, 445 A.2d 652, 656 (D.C. 1982) with *Washington Gas Light Company v. Jones*, 332 A.2d at 360 (D.C. 1975). *See also Klein v. The District of Columbia*, 133 U.S. App. D.C. 129, 409 F.2d 164 (D.C. 1969)(reversing directed verdict for the District where there was evidence of a ³/₄ inch protrusion on a sidewalk).

Of significance here is that the District of Columbia concedes that any change in elevation greater than 0.25 inches presents a defect that needs to be repaired. During discovery, the corporate designee for the District of Columbia, Andrew Kaufman, testified as follows:

Q (Counsel for Ms. Castania): So up to and including July 25, 2019, when there was a height difference in a sidewalk, did the District use the ADA's oneforth of an inch in determining whether a sidewalk needed to be repaired?

A (Mr. Kaufman): In general?

Q (Counsel for Ms. Castania): Yes.

A (Mr. Kaufman): Yes.

JA 318.

The defect in the instant case ranged from 0.8 inches to 1.5 inches in size, well above one-fourth of an inch. JA 327-330. Further, both of Plaintiff's liability experts, Mr. Walter Green and Dr. Vigilante, agree that the standard of care in the District of Columbia is that any change in elevation on a sidewalk of more than 0.25 inches needs to be repaired. JA 196-226, 234, 338-339, 329-331. The Defendant's experts do not rebut this standard of care.

Accordingly, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Ms. Castania, judgment as a matter of law in the instant case was inappropriate as the change in elevation of the sidewalk panels where she fell was 0.8 inches to 1.5 inches, higher than 0.25 inches or even 0.75 of an inch, and certainly was not a *de minimis* defect. Furthermore, in *Briscoe*, the District of Columbia argued that the location of the allegedly defective curbstone was not in a "busy or conspicuous location." *Briscoe* at 1279. Here, the location of the fall occurred directly in the middle of a sidewalk in a highly trafficked area of the city.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, the Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the grant of summary judgment be reversed and remand the case for a jury trial.