No. 23-CV-522

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAIR Submitted 02/02/2024 03:51 PM Filed 02/02/2024 05:11 PM Filed 02/02/2024 05:11 PM

MARY-KATE CASTANIA, APPELLANT,

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

THAIS-LYN TRAYER Deputy Solicitor General

RICHARD S. LOVE Senior Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the Superior Court's grant of summary judgment to the District either because the District lacked constructive notice of a dangerous sidewalk condition, or because the condition was de minimis as a matter of law.

1. Although the District has a duty to exercise reasonable care in the maintenance of its public ways, the mere fact that a pedestrian is injured on a public walkway is insufficient to permit an inference of negligence against the District. Instead, to establish a breach of a duty of care, the pedestrian must prove that the District had actual or constructive notice of a dangerous defect.

The Superior Court here correctly concluded that the District did not have constructive notice of a dangerous defect on the sidewalk where Castania fell off her motorized scooter. Castania does not contend that the District had actual notice and

did not establish a genuine issue of material fact whether the District had constructive notice. While her evidence included two witness statements contending that the sidewalk was "raised" for up to two years, neither witness provided any details regarding the size and height of any elevation change at any point in time. Their testimony is insufficient to establish the existence of a dangerous condition—let alone that it was of such a degree that the District should have been on notice of the condition by the time of Castania's accident.

Furthermore, while expert testimony confirmed the dimensions of the elevation change, the measurements themselves—taken after the fact—do not resolve the issue of *how long* the sidewalk remained in an unsafe condition, even assuming the change in elevation was in fact hazardous. Indeed, this Court has recognized that evidence that a generalized obstruction existed for a period of time, "standing alone[,] cannot establish the indispensable actual or constructive notice of the existence of the *specific* obstruction . . . or its dangerous character." *Aben v. District of Columbia*, 221 F.2d 110, 111 (D.C. Cir. 1955). Nor is there evidence that Castania fell off her motorized scooter in a busy area frequented by District officials, a factor that the Court has recognized could create a disputed fact question as to constructive notice. Moreover, the court did not err in reasonably inferring from the witnesses' failure to notify the District of a need to repair the raised sidewalk that

their statements were insufficient to demonstrate that a dangerous condition of which the District should have known existed.

2. As this Court has instructed time and again, a "municipality cannot be expected to maintain the surface of its sidewalks free from all inequalities and from every possible obstruction to travel." *Proctor*, 273 A.2d at 658. In other words, not every imperfection constitutes a dangerous condition significant enough to trigger a duty of repair. Accordingly, even when the District has notice of an alleged defect, it is entitled to judgment where, like here, the alleged defect causing a plaintiff's injury is nothing more than de minimis.

The Superior Court's decision is in accord with the precedent of this Court, including *Briscoe*, which involved a sidewalk curb variation that was between two and three inches long and one inch deep. Here, Castania fell off her motorized scooter somewhere (she does not specify) where the sidewalk varied in height between 7/8 and 1.5 inches. Castania's attempts to distinguish *Briscoe* and liken her circumstances to other cases involving entirely different types of hazards lack merit. Castania also fails to persuade that the defect is more than de minimis due to the fact that the roadway alongside where she fell is a major thoroughfare, or because, due to obligations under the Americans With Disabilities Act, the District generally repairs sidewalk defects presenting a height difference of more than a quarter of an inch—when it knows about them.

ARGUMENT

I. The Superior Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment To The District.

It is a "well established rule that, 'although the District of Columbia has a duty to maintain its streets in a reasonably safe condition . . . it is not an insurer of safety of those who utilize its streets and sidewalks." *Briscoe*, 62 A.3d at 1278 (quoting *Rajabi v. Potomac Elec. Power Co.*, 650 A.2d 1319, 1322 (D.C. 1994)); *see District of Columbia v. Smith*, 642 A.2d 140, 141 (D.C. 1994) (noting that in a negligence case, "'[t]he mere happening of an accident does not meet [a plaintiff's] burden" (quoting *District of Columbia v. Cooper*, 445 A.2d 652, 655 (D.C. 1982) (en banc))).

Instead, a "plaintiff must establish that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether, *inter alia*, 'her injuries were caused by an unsafe or defective condition... of which the District had timely notice, either actual or constructive." *Briscoe*, 62 A.3d at 1279 (quoting *Williams v. District of Columbia*, 646 A.2d 962, 963 (D.C. 1992)); *accord District of Columbia v. Woodbury*, 136 U.S. 450, 463-65 (1890). In other words, "the District government is not responsible for the injury that results unless it had timely notice of the dangerous condition of the street, so that it could be put in repair and the danger obviated." *Woodbury*, 136 U.S. at 463; *see Harding v. District of Columbia*, 178 A.2d 920, 921 (D.C. 1962) (The District "is simply bound to exercise due care and diligence to remedy any dangerous condition of which it has timely notice").

Castania has failed to adduce evidence of actual or constructive notice to the District. Nor did the sidewalk present anything more than a de minimis defect. As a result, this Court should affirm the grant of judgment to the District on either of these independent bases.

A. The District did not have constructive notice of a dangerous sidewalk condition.

As an initial matter, Castania never argued before the Superior Court that the District had actual notice of the allegedly dangerous condition of the sidewalk where she fell off her motorized scooter. That is for good reason, given the District's testimony that it never received a complaint about the sidewalk. JA 182, 325; *see* JA 190 ¶ 5. Regardless, she also fails to make the argument on appeal, which is therefore forfeited. *Fells v. Serv. Emp. Int'l Union*, 281 A.3d 572, 579 (D.C. 2022) (affirming ruling not challenged in the opening brief).

Castania's reliance on constructive notice likewise fails. Br. 5, 8. Constructive notice "can be shown by evidence that a street has remained in an unsafe condition for a sufficient period of time that the District authorities ought to have known of it, had they exercised ordinary care." *Lynn v. District of Columbia*, 734 A.2d 168, 170 (D.C. 1999) (quoting *Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth. v. Davis*, 606 A.2d 165, 175 (D.C. 1992)). "The relevant circumstances that a court may consider" in the constructive notice inquiry "include such things as the length of time that the defective condition existed, whether the condition was obvious or latent, and

the severity of the dangerous condition." *Briscoe*, 62 A.3d at 1279. However, "the fact that a defect exists is not sufficient in and of itself to provide constructive notice of that defect to the entity that maintains the property." *Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth. v. Ferguson*, 977 A.2d 375, 378 (D.C. 2009). And "when any evidence from which [a] jur[y] could infer notice is lacking[,] the court disposes of the case as a matter of law." *Miller v. District of Columbia*, 343 A.2d 278, 280 (D.C. 1975).

Here, no jury could conclude that the District had constructive notice based on Castania's evidence. Although Castania's two fact witnesses contended that the sidewalk had been "raised" for up to "approximately 2 years prior to [Castania's] fall," neither witness was able "to provide specifics regarding the sidewalk's condition beyond their lay opinion that a defect existed in the sidewalk." JA 297, 299, 360. Absent any detail regarding the size, height, or elevation change of the sidewalk at any specific point in time, the testimony was insufficient to establish the existence of a dangerous condition—let alone that it was of such a degree that the District should have been on notice of the condition by the time of Castania's accident. In fact, Castania even admitted that she herself did not notice any change in elevation before the accident. JA 83.

Details regarding the change of the sidewalk's condition over the timeline implicated in the affidavits are particularly important here because Castania has alleged that the "defective condition was likely caused by the growth and/or

movement of tree roots." JA 330. Without such detail, Castania cannot demonstrate the alleged "severity or dangerousness of the condition" over time. Briscoe, 62 A.3d at 1279. Her evidence sheds no light on how quickly the alleged tree root growth occurred, or at what point it impacted the sidewalk to present a hazard. Furthermore, the "tree uplift problem is a problem that literally occurs all over the city" "every day." JA 319. Because "[i]t is a matter of common knowledge that it is impossible to maintain a sidewalk in a perfect condition," "[a] municipality cannot be expected to maintain the surface of its sidewalks free from all inequalities and from every possible obstruction to travel." Proctor, 273 A.2d at 658 (quoting Whiting v. Nat'l City, 69 P.2d 990, 991 (Cal. 1937)). Given the nature and frequency of tree uplift problems, the lack of any reported issue with the sidewalk, and the generalized witness testimony about the length of time that a portion of the sidewalk was simply "raised," it cannot be said that the District had "constructive notice of anything beyond a de minimis defect." JA 360; see Barrett v. Covington & Burling LLP, 979 A.2d 1239, 1245 (D.C. 2009) (explaining that "[i]f the evidence is merely colorable, or is not significantly probative, summary judgment may be granted" (quotation marks and citations omitted)).

Castania suggests that her evidence raised a triable issue of fact when considering the affidavits in tandem with her expert's measurement of the sidewalk's

change in elevation.² JA 297 ¶ 7, 299 ¶ 6; see Br. 6-7. But neither witness substantiated the expert's measurements or verified that the unevenness remained exactly the same for a period of years. As the Superior Court correctly explained, the measurements were taken after the fact and do not resolve the issue of how long the sidewalk remained in an unsafe condition, even assuming the change in elevation was in fact hazardous by the time the accident occurred. See Lynn, 734 A.2d at 170 (explaining that constructive notice depends on the existence of an unsafe condition for a sufficient period of time to impute notice).

Castania's invitation to gloss over this evidentiary deficit would run contrary to this Court's precedent. Evidence of duration of a generalized obstruction, "standing alone[,] cannot establish the indispensable actual or constructive notice of the existence of the *specific* obstruction . . . or its dangerous character." *Aben*, 221 F.2d at 111. Thus, in *Aben v. District of Columbia*, the District obtained a directed verdict where the only evidence of constructive notice of a dangerous, icy sidewalk patch was weather reports showing unmelted snow and ice in the District over three days. *Id.* Conversely, in *Lynn v. District of Columbia*, this Court sustained a finding of constructive notice of a dangerous, three-inch deficit in elevation between the sidewalk and a treebox where multiple "depositions and affidavits from others"

In her brief, Castania did not raise any argument regarding the 2014 Google image and, apparently, has abandoned that argument.

confirmed the continued existence of the actual "condition of the sidewalk and treebox." 734 A.2d at 171.

Castania nevertheless contends that an unspecified "raised portion of a sidewalk existing for just more than a month can be [an] unreasonably prolonged" period sufficient to impute constructive notice to the District. Br. 6 (citing *Lynn*, 734 A.2d at 171). But the case on which she relies, *Lynn*, does not stand for that proposition. As discussed, the plaintiff in *Lynn* testified that she fell in a treebox space that was "three inches lower than the adjacent pavement," and had been in that precise condition "for [m]ore than a month and [p]robably for a year." 734 A.2d at 170 (internal quotation marks omitted). But the testimony here is not that the same condition that allegedly caused Castania's fall persisted for a prolonged period. Instead, it is that a "raised" sidewalk, without any further specificity, existed for a period of time before the accident. JA 297, 299.

In any event, the Court in *Lynn* did not rely on the existence of a dangerous condition for one month to conclude that there was a disputed question of fact as to constructive notice. Instead, noting "that the evaluation of the factual circumstances regarding the question of constructive notice varies in each case," the Court heavily relied on the fact that Lynn fell in a busy area where police officers were present "in the immediate vicinity." *Id.* at 171. "If the treebox was as damaged as [Lynn] claimed for as long as she claimed, a fact finder could have inferred that the

police"—in other words, District authorities—"would have seen it and had sufficient notice of the problem to give rise to the District's duty to correct it." *Id*. Here, the area where Castania fell is not alleged to have the same proximity to District officials.

Castania also argues that the District had constructive notice of the condition because it "was present in a location that receives a high volume of pedestrian traffic." Br. 11 (citing *Lynn*, 734 A.2d at 171).³ But whether the area is highly trafficked is not dispositive of the constructive notice inquiry. *See Briscoe*, 62 A.3d at 1279 (enumerating as "relevant circumstances that a court may consider . . . such things as the length of time that the defective condition existed, whether the condition was obvious or latent, and the severity or dangerousness of the condition"). And, as noted, Castania offers no evidence that *District officials* frequented the area, unlike the plaintiff in *Lynn*.

Castania also insists that 9th Street is a "major road" "eligible for federal aid"—apparently suggesting that it would have received disproportionate attention from District officials. Br. 11. But Castania unreasonably elevates the significance of eligibility for aid, as "all the major roads in D.C." are deemed "important road[s]"

Although this argument appears in the portion of Castania's brief regarding de minimis defects, it is framed as an argument regarding constructive notice. It is unclear how the traffic on a sidewalk could affect whether a physical defect is de minimis.

that the federal government is "willing to help [D.C.] maintain." JA 320. Her reasoning would expose the District to liability for a defect on most of its roads, again contravening the recognition that the District is not an insurer of pedestrian safety. Furthermore, Castania fell on the sidewalk, not the road, making the road's status irrelevant.⁴

Finally, Castania argues that the trial court "conflate[d] actual notice with constructive notice" because it took note of the witnesses' failure to report the sidewalk's condition. Br. 8. Not so. Beyond noting the affidavits' obvious lack of detail, the court reasonably inferred lack of constructive notice of a dangerous condition from the witnesses' failure to make any effort to facilitate a repair of the raised sidewalk. JA 360.⁵ That is entirely within the purview of the trial court as factfinder. *See Evans v. United States*, 122 A.3d 876, 887 (D.C. 2015) (explaining that a fact finder "is entitled to draw a vast range of reasonable inferences from evidence"). Nevertheless, the fact that the District never received a report of a

In addition, although there was evidence that there was a restaurant and art gallery on the block where Castania fell, JA 297, 299, the only evidence of other neighboring establishments and adjacent bus routes, or other evidence of an allegedly highly trafficked area, is unsworn argument from counsel, which is inadmissible for purposes of summary judgment. *Maupin v. Haylock*, 931 A.2d 1039, 1042 (D.C. 2007) (recognizing that unsworn testimony "is insufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgment"); *see* Br. 12.

Castania also emphasizes the District's choice not to depose either witness, but that choice is not surprising given the absence of any detail in the affidavits they crafted. Br. 7.

problem with the sidewalk at issue here seriously undercuts the notion that the dangerous condition existed for a sufficient period that the District should have known about it in the exercise of reasonable care. JA 319; *see* JA 321, 325.

B. The common sidewalk elevation change was de minimis as a matter of law.

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